IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

| TROY M | 1ERC | ЧК, | : |
|--------|------|------------|---|
| | | Appellant, | : |
| vs. | | | : |
| STATE | OF | FLORIDA, | : |
| | | Appellee. | : |
| | | | : |

Case No. 91,581

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0236365

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF TYPE USED

I certify the size and style of type used in this brief is Courier 12 point, a font that is not proportionally spaced.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Troy Merck, Jr., was charged by indictment on November 14, 1991 in Pinellas County with the first degree murder of James Newton (1/3-4).¹ The case went to trial in November, 1992, and ended in a hung jury (OR1382,1386). After a second trial in September, 1993, appellant was found guilty as charged and sentenced to death (OR2010,2054,2129-35). On appeal, in a decision dated October 12, 1995, this Court affirmed the conviction, but reversed the death sentence and remanded for a new penalty trial (1/12-26). The resentencing proceeding took place on July 15-18, 1997, before Circuit Judge Nelly N. Khouzam and a jury. The jury unanimously recommended a death sentence (3/597; 18/1382), and the trial judge imposed the death penalty on September 12, 1997 (4/759,762-74; 7/927-48).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. <u>State's Case</u>

¹ In this brief, references to the record on appeal will include the volume number followed by the page number. References to the original trial record (which was made a part of the record in the instant resentencing proceeding, see 13/645-47,662-63) will be preceeded by the symbol OR (documents) or OT (transcript), followed by the page number.

Katherine Sullivan, a bartender at City Lites, was off-duty on the night of October 10-11, 1991; she was there partying with some friends. One of her friends, Jim Newton, was celebrating his birthday. Ms. Sullivan was drinking, as was Newton. She did not necessarily think she was drunk, but she felt she'd had too much to take a chance on driving home (12/467-69,474,492-93).

After the bar closed at 2:00 a.m., Ms. Sullivan was sitting in her car with her boyfriend Glenn listening to the radio, when she realized that someone was leaning against the car. The person leaning on the car was not appellant; it was his friend (Neil Thomas) (12/472, see 500-01). Glenn rolled down the window and asked him to please get off the car. Neil and appellant were being sarcastic and joking around, popping their heads in her window, but everything was fine. Jim Newton and Don Ward came up to the car to make sure everything was okay; Ms. Sullivan explained that there was no problem. Soon afterward, words were exchanged by appellant towards Jim Newton. Appellant had heard Ms. Sullivan congratulating Newton; he said something like "Congratu-fuckin'-lations". He was trying to goad Newton into fighting him, but Newton told Ms. Sullivan he was not going to fight. (12/473-75) Appellant called Newton a "pussy". He walked around to his car, which looked like a red Pinto, and took off his shirt, saying he was going to teach

Newton how to bleed. His friend Neil threw him the car keys. According to Ms. Sullivan, Neil said "Nice catch, Troy", appellant told him not to use his real name, and Neil then said "I said `boy'" (12/475-76, 488-89). Ms. Sullivan thought appellant was able to walk and talk okay (12/489).

She saw appellant reach into the passenger seat of the red car; he fumbled around in there, and then walked back and handed the key back to his friend. The whole time he was telling Newton he was going to teach him how to bleed. He was holding his hand to his side. He then charged at Newton and began throwing punches, reaching around Newton's back. Ms. Sullivan could see a blood spot on Newton's back every time he got punched. (R12/476-78) Ms. Sullivan testified, "It happened extremely quickly" (12/478, see 493-94). Newton wasn't moving; it was like he couldn't move. Ms. Sullivan saw a glint of silver off the streetlight; she put two and two together and thought it was a knife. The initial blows to the back were followed by some uppercuts. Newton was kind of falling down at that point. Ms. Sullivan saw Newton's head being pulled back, and she ran into the bar and told the bouncers to call 911 (12/479-81).

Ms. Sullivan testified that the entire incident took place very suddenly and quickly -- within about 15-20 seconds (12/493-94,

see 478). She was surprised and in a state of shock (12/493).

The defense also proffered the following direct examination of Ms. Sullivan, which was excluded by the trial court in accordance with her ruling denying the defense's pretrial motion (5/598; 9/36-45) [See Issue V, <u>infra</u>]. Ms. Sullivan had described the person who did the stabbing as wearing khaki pants (12/496). She recalled that the pants which had previously been introduced by the state as being the ones worn by Troy Merck on the night of the crime were not khaki (12/496-97). The defense reintroduced (for purposes of the proffer) those pants -- a pair of size 30 blue or dark slacks -- as Defense Exhibit 1 (12/508-09). According to Ms. Sullivan, it was appellant Troy Merck -- not his friend Neil Thomas -- who started the argument with Jim Newton, who goaded Newton to fight, who called him a "pussy", and made remarks like, "That's what a pussy would say" (12/497-98).

Donald Ward was also present in the parking lot when the stabbing occurred. He had had six or seven beers, maybe eight, and he was intoxicated (12/511,515). He saw a man go across the hood of a car, grab Jim Newton, and stab him in the midsection about six times (12/511,513-14). The whole thing happened pretty fast (12/ 514). Ward did not identify the attacker, but he recalled that the man had previously said "Happy birthday" to Newton (12/512). Ward

went over to try to help; Newton was bleeding from a cut in his neck, spitting up blood, and having convulsions (12/512-13)

James Carter, chief of security for the nightclub, ran out to the parking lot when Katherine Sullivan reported the stabbing. He saw a car pulling out of the parking lot and he got the tag number. Another co-worker was assisting Jim Newton, who was moving and coughing up blood (12/516-21).

Neil Thomas met appellant in a bar in Ocala a few weeks before this incident, and they became friends (12/528-29). Thomas acknowledged at trial that he had eight or nine felony convictions, "[s]omewhere in that vicinity", though he claimed to have changed his life since then (12/565,582).

After they began hanging out together, appellant and Thomas traveled to Sylva, North Carolina, where appellant's mother lived. They stayed for a week or two, drinking heavily every day (12/529-30,570-71). Thomas met a couple of girls; Rebecca (who had been appellant's girlfriend) and Roberta (with whom Thomas developed somewhat of a relationship)(12/531). On one occasion they went to see appellant's cousin in South Carolina; everybody was drinking and there was a confrontation which escalated into a shooting. Appellant's sister's boyfriend was shot. Appellant and Thomas were

witnesses to the shooting but they were not directly involved (12/ 531,571).

While in North Carolina, they bought a car -- a red Bobcat which resembled a Pinto -- from appellant's brother. Then they drove back to Florida to get Thomas' clothes and belongings (12/ 530,532). Appellant generally kept a hunting knife on his person, and he brought it to Florida with him (12/532-33).

On the Friday after their arrival, they went to the beach. Someone gave out a free admission or drink pass to City Lites, and they decided to go there that night. They got to the bar around 10:00 or 10:30 and stayed until closing time at 2:00 a.m. (12/534-37). They had pooled their money, but Thomas was the one who would purchase the drinks and bring them back to the table, since he was over 21, while appellant was 19 (12/537-38,574-75). Thomas and appellant were drinking the same amount -- "[w]e were kind of neck and neck" (12/537,575). Thomas estimated that he had five or six beers and a couple of shots of liquor, and appellant had about the same (12/537). At the end of the night, the bar had a dollar tequila shot special. Thomas remembered tequila being at the table with himself and appellant, but Thomas didn't recall having any himself (12/574). Thomas didn't recall any visible signs of physical impairment, such as staggering or slurred speech, in either

himself or appellant (12/538-39). However, Thomas could feel the effects of the alcohol; he variously described himself as "buzzed" or "fairly drunk" (12/539,573). Thomas' body weight was 185 pounds at the time of these events, while appellant weighed 144 pounds (12/575-76).

At closing time, Thomas wasn't ready to leave; he was just getting started. In the parking lot, Thomas caught up with some girls who had been contestants in the bar's "fake orgasm contest" and started talking to them, trying to show how he could do it better. He was leaning against a blue Camaro, and appellant was sitting on the back of the car (12/540-42,572-73). A female voice told them to get the hell off her car. Appellant replied sarcastically that he was sorry, he didn't mean to lean on her precious car, and appellant and Thomas started walking towards their own car (12/543,573). Thomas, however, was kind of mad because of the woman's tone, "[s]o I turned around and I was kind of looking for someone to provoke, and that's when I saw the -- that person" (James Newton) (12/543). Newton was standing by the driver's side of the blue car; neither Thomas nor appellant knew him nor had had any contact with him in the bar (12/539-40,543). Newton said "Why don't you get off the girl's car", and Thomas said something to the effect of "You look like a real pussy". Newton had his arms

crossed; he replied "Yeah, I'm a pussy", and Thomas shot back "That's what a pussy would say" (12/543-44). Thomas acknowledged that it was he -- not appellant -- who started in with Jim Newton (12/573); "I was trying to provoke the guy, and I really wasn't getting a response out of him" (12/544). According to Thomas, however, as the confrontation went on, appellant became very agitated. He took off his shirt and went around the side of the red car, saying "I'll show you a pussy". He threw his shirt in the car (12/544045). Thomas did not recall throwing the car keys to appellant; nor making any comments like "Nice catch, Troy"; nor appellant telling him not to call him by name (12/545,576-77). However, since he (Thomas) was the driver, he would have had to have given appellant the keys if the door was locked (12/577).

Thomas was still talking to the person he had been trying to provoke earlier. He told him, "You probably need to go ahead and haul ass and get out of here because you're fixing to get a real serious ass beating" (12/545-46). The guy did nothing. Appellant ran up, grabbed him around the neck, and started reaching around and punching him in the back. This lasted around 15 to 20 seconds; Thomas could hear faint popping noises accompanying the blows (12/ 546-48). Newton just stood there with his arms crossed, not fight-

ing back. Thomas didn't think he even knew what had hit him (12/ 546-47).

The prosecutor asked Thomas what was his last image before appellant let go. Thomas replied that his attention wasn't focused on the actual confrontation or fight, but "[i]t was kind of focused on the parking lot in general" (12/547). As he shifted his attention back to what was going on, he had just seen that appellant kind of had Newton by the hair and was throwing him back toward the hood of the blue car (12/547). As appellant was walking away, Thomas saw Newton bent over the hood and noticed that his shirt looked kind of wet (12/547-48). Appellant walked back to the red car, saying "Come on, let's go, let's go"; and Thomas agreed that it was time to go (12/549). Appellant was holding his hand stiffly by his leg, as if concealing something. Thomas had not seen a knife but he was starting to have suspicions (12/548-49).

They got into the car, with Thomas driving. As they drove away from the parking lot, Thomas asked appellant if he had stabbed the guy (12/550,553). Appellant held up his hand, and when the streetlight hit it Thomas could see that he was holding a knife and his hand was covered with blood (12/553-54). According to Thomas, appellant said "I fucking killed him" and "[I]f I didn't kill him, I'll go back -- find him in the hospital and finish the job"

(12/554). He said something to the effect that nobody was going to mess with his "road dog"² (12/555). Thomas testified in the resentencing trial that appellant described how he stuck the knife in the side of his neck and twisted it, and how he slit him across the throat a couple of times to make sure (12/554-55,560-61). [Thomas acknowledged on cross that he didn't recall mentioning any such statements in his testimony in the original trial or in deposition (12/578-82,587-88)]. Appellant told Thomas he would kill his grandmother if he said anything (12/554).

They pulled into an apartment complex where both of them changed clothes and they changed the tag on the car; "We were doing everything we could to get away from the cops" (12/555-56). They heard a police cruiser, and they ran through a field and a parking lot and across a couple of streets, ending up at a Burger King on US 19. Thomas called a taxicab to come and get them. They went to a bowling alley where they shot pool for twenty minutes, and then went back to their hotel (12/556-59). While in their hotel room Thomas was "very instrumental" in having appellant repeat to him five, six, or seven times, telling him and demonstrating how he

² A "road dog", according to Thomas, is "somebody you hang around with, just people that aren't really accepted by society. You're just kind of kicked around" (12/555).

stabbed the guy (12/559-60,588). Thomas testified, "[I]t was like kids in a locker room that were describing a fight" (12/561).

The next morning, they went to where they had left their car. It was gone. Out of money, they developed a plan for Rebecca and Roberta to come down from North Carolina and help them get back there. When they called the girls, the police were there. Rebecca and Roberta eventually came down and met them at the Howard Johnson's motel where they were then staying. The police tracked them down at the hotel after Thomas called his grandmother (12/561-64).

Deputy Charles Vaughn testified that the red Bobcat was recovered in the parking lot of an apartment complex. A tag and a knife (State Exhibit 22) were inside the vehicle (13/596-99).

Detective Thomas Nestor, the lead investigator in the case (13/600,648; see OT665-93), learned that appellant was staying at the Howard Johnson's motel in Clearwater; he was subsequently taken into custody by other officers (13/600-01). The following prof-fered defense testimony was excluded pursuant to the trial court's pretrial ruling: Detective Nestor took the statement of the eyewitness Katherine Sullivan, who described the person who did the stabbing as wearing khaki pants (13/648). She also told Nestor that the person who stabbed Jim Newton was the same individual who started the argument with Newton (13/648-49). Detective Nestor

executed a search warrant and collected evidence from the Bobcat. A plastic bag containing various articles of clothing was removed from the back of the vehicle; among these items was a pair of khaki pants. Nestor visually examined the khaki pants, did not see any visible bloodstains, and therefore concluded that they "had no evidentiary value" and put them back inside the vehicle. The items which were not collected into evidence were left in the vehicle and returned to the registered owner (13/649-61).

The defense also proffered testimony from the original guilt phase trial of eyewitness Richard Holton (OT720-30), crime scene technician Alyson Morganstein (OT534-58), and fingerprint examiner Henry Brommelsick (OT606-22). Holton would have testified that the person who did the stabbing went around to the side of the Bobcat, pounded his hand on top of the roof and said throw me the keys (13/662). The forensic witnesses would have testified that Neil Thomas' palmprint was found on the roof of the vehicle directly above the passenger side door, while appellant's palmprint was further toward the rear of the roof (13/662). In the original trial, on cross-examination by the defense, Brommelsick had testified:

> Q. Someone went like, "Give me the keys", on the top portion of the car, right above the passenger side where the door handle would be,

trying to get into the car, who would that have been according to your fingerprints?

A. It would be Neil Thomas.

(OT622).

The state introduced documents showing appellant's four prior convictions of robbery with a deadly weapon (three from Lake County and one from Marion County) and one conviction of robbery (from Pasco County) (13/610; 5/801-05). Nathan Dudeck, a clerk at a Farm Stores in Dade City, testified that appellant, accompanied by a girl, came into the store. Appellant put a knife to his throat, pushed him to the floor, and took about 65 dollars from the register; then he and the girl left (13/612-14).

The state called a D.O.C. probation officer from Ocala, who testified that appellant was on probation for the Marion County robbery at the time of the instant offense (13/629-33). The probation order was introduced into evidence (13/630-32; 5/806).

Associate medical examiner Robert Davis performed an autopsy on James Newton (14/675-76, 683). The cause of death was multiple stab wounds. There were thirteen wounds in all; seven were stab wounds and the remainder were described as superficial cuts and scrapes (14/684,687-709,714-15). Some of the superficial injuries were, in Dr. Davis' opinion, consistent with defensive wounds (14/ 710). The most serious of the injuries was a stab wound on the

side of the neck which got the carotid artery and jugular vein (14/ 699-7001). Dr. Davis testified that this injury was consistent with the knife having been twisted, or with the victim having moved while it was being inflicted (14/703-06,721). The prosecutor showed Dr. Davis State Exhibit 22; and the doctor testified that the depth and nature of the stab wounds were consistent with that knife (14/706-07). Dr. Davis could not tell the sequence in which the injuries were inflicted (14/712-13).

Newton's blood alcohol level was found to be .18 (heart blood) or .21 (vitreous) (14/710-11,716). Dr. Davis described this as a "significantly elevated" level (14/711). Asked by the prosecutor what physical impairment this would cause in a person of Newton's size (188 pounds), Dr. Davis replied that this would vary with the individual, but "a person would be affected by this level of alcohol" (14/711, see 684). It would not render him unconscious nor incapable of feeling pain, but there would be a degree of decrease in his capacity to feel pain (14/711-12,719).

Dr. Davis testified that after the stab wounds were inflicted, Newton would have gone into shock (which would have further diminished his ability to perceive pain) in perhaps less than a minute; he would likely have become unconscious in two to five minutes; and

death would have occurred in five to ten minutes (14/ 713-14,734-36).

B. Defense Case

Ronald Bell is the chief toxicologist for the Pinellas/Pasco medical examiner's office; it was he who performed the toxicological analysis during the autopsy of James Newton which showed a .18 heart blood alcohol and a .21 vitreous blood alcohol (14/749,751). Bell testified that you can estimate a person's blood alcohol content without actually testing the fluid if enough information is known, such as the individual's sex, his or her body weight, and the amount of alcohol consumed within a specific period of time (14/750-51). Based on the testimony of state witness Neil Thomas that Thomas and appellant had each consumed about six beers and two or three shots of liquor between 10:30 p.m. and 2:00 a.m., and based on a body weight of 180 for Thomas and 144 for appellant, Bell estimated Neil Thomas' blood alcohol level at .15 and appellant's blood alcohol level at .21 (14/752-54,756-57). . 21 indicates a significant degree of impairment (14/754). Allowing for variations among individuals, Bell testified the total range of possibilities within a 90 percent statistical certainty is that appellant's blood alcohol was between.16 and .26 (14/757-58). The

overt effects of alcohol vary among individuals; persons who consume alcohol on a regular basis may develop a tolerance and display fewer outward symptoms of impairment (14/761-63).

Dr. Edward Willey, a pathologist in private practice, reviewed the autopsy report and other materials and concluded that James Newton probably became unconscious less than a minute after receiving the neck injury (14/771-73,780,790). If someone is moaning or rolling on the ground it means that they are not comatose, but it does not necessarily mean they are conscious (14/773). Asked how Newton's blood alcohol content of .18 would affect his ability to feel pain, Dr. Willey answered that alcohol blunts pain to some extent and it also alters the perception of it. "[T]he greater the amount of alcohol in the blood the greater the influence" (14/774). Alcohol affects the higher cortical centers of the brain. For medical purposes it is a poor anesthetic, but nevertheless it was used as an anesthetic even for major surgery before here were better things available (14/774).

Asked whether a .21 blood alcohol content (appellant's level according to toxicologist Ron Bell's estimate) would affect a person's ability to think, reason, and exercise control, Dr. Willey answered "Most definitely" (14/775).

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