IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TROY MERCK,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 91,581

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

(emphasis supplied)(Vol. IV, R. 714)

At the **Spencer** hearing, defense counsel recited:

Judge, the only thing I would say on that is that I believe that I argued during the course of the re-trial that this would be an

ex post facto application because at the time Mr. Merck went to trial the first time, it wasn't an aggravator.

I realize the State cited, I think the Trotter case to knock that out, I am not abandoning that, I didn't argue it here, but to the extent that that doesn't apply, I am not going to stand here and tell you that they didn't put on evidence of that.

(Vol. VIII, R. 885)

Appellant acquiesced to the prosecutor's reliance on the adverse decision in Trotter v. State, 690 So.2d 1234 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, ____ U.S. ____, 139 L.Ed.2d 134 (1997). See Lucas v.State, 376 So.2d 1149, 1152 (Fla. 1979)("This court will not indulge in the presumption that the trial judge would have made an erroneous ruling had an objection been made and authorities cited contrary to his understanding of the law."). See also F.S. 924.051(3); Perez v. State, 717 So.2d 605 (Fla. 3DCA 1998); Pope v. State, 441 So.2d 1073, 1076 (Fla. 1983)("A party may not invite error and then be heard to complain of that error on appeal.").

Appellant somewhat acknowledges that the claim was not adequately preserved in the lower court⁷ but posits four arguments to explain away the default (Appellant's Brief, p. 90). First, he contends that while inartful the objection was sufficient to comply with the contemporaneous objection rule. Appellee disagrees.

⁷See p. 89 of Appellant's Brief noting that regarding trial counsel's assertion of a previous objection on ex post facto grounds "the record doesn't bear that out".

Defense counsel clearly acquiesced and it was incumbent upon him to urge that consideration of the aggravator would be serious legal error if he deemed it so, rather than to comply passively to the prosecutor's reliance on Trotter. Second, he contends that the error amounts to fundamental error. But the defense acknowledged to the jury that the state had proven this factor, urged no legal basis to them for rejecting it and clearly waived any due process There is no fundamental error. notice issue. Third, Merck contends that "death is different" and argues that F.S. 921.141(4) imposes an obligation to review death sentences on matters not urged. But F.S. 921.141(4) does not constitute a general repudiation of procedural bar jurisprudence in the capital context but only creates a statutory mandate to review capital judgments and sentences (even if the defendant does not want to appeal). See e.q., Muehleman v. State, 503 So.2d 310, 312-313 (Fla. 1987); Pettit v. State, 591 So.2d 618, 620, n 2 (Fla. 1992)(Pettit did not want to appeal or have counsel for him appeal, but we determined that this wish could not be granted because we have an absolute statutory obligation to review every death sentence).

Finally, Merck posits that trial counsel should be declared ineffective (without hearing or cross-examination) for his failure to timely and properly object on ex post facto grounds. But trial counsel cannot be deemed deficient in this regard since this

Court's precedent of <u>Trotter v. State</u>, 690 So.2d 1234 (Fla. 1996) would likely have precluded success and trial counsel is not required to anticipate future changes in the law. *Cf.* <u>Harvey v.</u> <u>Dugger</u>, 656 So.2d 1253, 1258 (Fla. 1995)(trial counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to object that HAC instruction was vague when this Court had previously upheld the validity of these instructions); <u>Lambrix v. Singletary</u>, 641 So.2d 847, 849 (Fla. 1994)(appellate counsel not ineffective because this Court would have rejected <u>Espinosa</u> claim on direct appeal); <u>Stevens v. State</u>, 552 So.2d 1082, 1085 (Fla. 1989)(" . . . claims of ineffective assistance of counsel that place a duty upon defense lawyers to anticipate changes in the law are without merit.").

(B) There is no violation of the ex post facto clause:

The trial court's action is in conformity with <u>Peek v. State</u>, 395 So.2d 492, 499 (Fla. 1980) wherein this Court explained:

Probation is a sentence alternative but is not generally considered to be a sentence of An exception arises, however, imprisonment. if the order of probation includes as a condition a term of incarceration and the <u>capital felony</u> is committed while the defendant is or should be incarcerated. find that the phrase "person under sentence of imprisonment" includes (a) persons incarcerated under a sentence for a specific or indeterminate term of years, (b) persons incarcerated under an order of probation, (c) persons under either (a) or (b) who have escaped from incarceration, and (d) persons who are under sentence for a specific or

indeterminate term of years and who have been placed on parole.

(emphasis supplied)

See also Merck v. State, 664 So.2d 939, 945 (Fla. 1995)("I do note that if Merck was on parole, or if his order of probation included as a condition a term of incarceration and this murder was committed while Merck was or should have been incarcerated, he would have been under a sentence of imprisonment within the meaning of section 921.141(5)(a).").

Probation officer Jacobs testified that William Melton a/k/a
Troy Merck had been released from prison with a term of probation
to follow and he went over the rules and regulations with Merck in
the Exhibit 13 probation order (Vol. XIII, R. 630-633). The
Exhibit 13 probation order plainly indicates that Merck had one
year of probation consecutive to four years in the Department of
Corrections (Vol. V, R. 806). Merck satisfied the under sentence
of imprisonment aggravator under the exception noted in Peek,
supra. But even if the Peek exception were not applicable, the
legislature's subsequent revision of F.S. 921.141(5) to clarify
with the "placed on community control or on felony probation"
language puts the case in a similar posture to Trotter v. State,
690 So.2d 1234 (Fla. 1996), cert.denied, --- U.S. ---, 139 L.Ed.2d
134 (1997) where the Court rejected an ex post facto challenge and

found the community control language to be a refinement in the sentence of imprisonment factor.

Custodial restraint has served in aggravation in Florida since the "sentence of imprisonment" circumstance was created, and enactment of community control simply extended traditional custody to include "custody in the community." See §948.001, Fla. Stat. (1985). Use of community control as an aggravating circumstance thus constitutes a refinement in the "sentence of imprisonment" factor, not a substantive change in Florida's death penalty law.

Id. at 1237. Thus, this Court disagreed with Trotter's claim, "just as [it has] found no violation in every other case where an aggravating circumstance was applied retroactively - even on resentencing." Id.; see e.g., Jackson v. State, 648 So.2d 85 (Fla. 1994)(victim was law enforcement officer aggravator); Valle v. State, 581 So.2d 40 (Fla. 1991)(same); Zeigler v. State, 580 So.2d 127 (Fla.)(CCP aggravator), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 946 (1991); Hitchcock v. State, 578 So.2d 685 (Fla. 1990)(under sentence of imprisonment aggravator), vacated on other grounds, 505 U.S. 1215 (1992); Justus v. State, 438 So.2d 358 (Fla. 1983)(CCP aggravator), cert. denied, 465 U.S. 1052 (1984); Combs v. State, 403 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981)(same), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 984 (1982).

Recently, this Court found that the proposed application of a new aggravator would be an ex post facto violation. In <u>Hootman v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 709 So.2d 1357 (Fla. 1998), this Court held that subsection 921.141(5)(m), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996), could not be applied

to a murder committed prior to the new aggravator's effective date of October 1, 1996. The (5)(m) aggravator applies when "[t]he victim of the capital felony was particularly vulnerable due to advanced age or disability, or because the defendant stood in a position of familial or custodial authority over the victim." § 921.141(5)(m). Because "advanced age of the victim had not been part of any of the previously enumerated factors," this Court held that "the legislature altered the substantive law by adding an entirely new aggravator to be considered in determining whether to impose the death penalty." Hootman, 709 So.2d at 1360.

This case is more like <u>Trotter</u> than <u>Hootman</u>. As far as the "under sentence of imprisonment" aggravator is concerned, felony probation is the functional equivalent of community control. <u>See</u> ch. 948, Fla. Stat., entitled "Probation and Community Control." Felony probation, just like community control, is a type of custody in the community. § 948.001, Fla. Stat. (1997). Therefore, felony probation is also an extension of custodial restraint and merely a refinement of the (5)(a) aggravator, rather than a substantive change like the (5)(m) advanced age aggravator. Thus, no error occurred when the trial court allowed the state to introduce evidence that Merck was on felony probation or when the trial court

instructed the jury on, and then found, that the felony probation

aggravator had been established.8

Moreover, the correctness of the lower court's action is fortified by this Court's action in promulgating <u>Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases--No. 96-1</u>, 690 So.2d 1263 (Fla. No. 89,053, March 6, 1997), wherein this Court ordered that these new instructions "will be effective on the date this opinion is filed". The pertinent instruction provides:

F.S. 921.141(5) The aggravating circumstances that you may consider are limited to any of the following that are established by the evidence:

Note to Judge Give only those aggravating circumstances for which evidence has been presented.

1. The crime for which (defendant) is to be sentenced was committed while [he] [she] had been previously convicted of a felony and [was under sentence of imprisonment] [or] [was placed on community control] [or] [was on felony probation];

(690 So.2d at 1265)

In Collins v. Youngblood, 497 U.S. 37, 111 L.Ed.2d 30 (1990)

⁸A further note on <u>Hootman</u>. There the Court expressed a concern that unlike prior cases <u>Hootman</u> would have allowed juries to be given additional detrimental information to consider in making its recommendation and that judges and juries might predicate a death sentence on the victim's advanced age as the sole determining factor in aggravation. <u>Id</u>. at 1360. Whatever theoretical possibility that may have represented in that pre-trial vacuum, that certainly is not the case here where there are two other strong aggravators (HAC, prior violent felony convictions) and the under sentence of imprisonment-felony probation aggravator does not provide much more damaging information than the properly considered series of prior violent felony convictions for robbery.

the Supreme Court cited with approval the formulation in an earlier decision <u>Beazell v. Ohio</u>, 269 U.S. 167, 70 L.Ed.2d 216 (1925):

"It is settled, by decisions of this Court so that their citation may be well known dispensed with, that any statute punishes as a crime an act previously committed, which was innocent when done; which makes more burdensome the punishment for crime, after its commission, or which deprives one charged with crime of any defense available according to law at the time when the act was committed, is prohibited as ex post facto." Id., at 169-170, 46 S.Ct., at 68-69.

* * *

The Beazell formulation is faithful to our best knowledge of the original understanding of the Ex Post Facto Clause: Legislatures may not retroactively alter the definition of crimes or increase the punishment for criminal acts.

497 U.S. at 42-43.

See also California Dept. of Corrections v. Morales, 514 U.S. 499, 132 L.Ed.2d 588, n 3 (1995)("After Collins, the focus of the ex post facto inquiry is not on whether a legislative change produces some ambiguous sort of 'disadvantage,' . . . but on whether any such change alters the definition of criminal conduct or increases the penalty by which a crime is punishable."). The challenged statute neither punished as a crime an act previously done which was innocent when done nor made more burdensome the punishment for a crime after its commission, nor did it deprive one charged with a crime of any defense available at the time when the act was

committed.

(C) <u>Harmless error</u>:

Finally, any error in this regard must be deemed harmless. The jury returned a unanimous recommendation of death, amply supported by two other valid aggravators — the HAC factor (previously approved by this Court) and prior violent felony conviction aggravator (unchallenged in this appeal and the evidentiary support demonstrating several armed robberies committed before the instant homicide). Thus, Mr. Merck's conduct at the City Lites parking lot was not an isolated, aberrant incident of law breaking. The mitigation was weak; Merck has no brain damage, mental retardation, or psychosis and the emotional disturbance found and given little weight was even in dispute between Dr. Merin and Ms. Heide. Removal of the "felony probation" factor from the calculus would not reasonably yield a different result to the character analysis.

ISSUE V

WHETHER ERROR TO EXCLUDE EVIDENCE THAT NEIL THOMAS WAS THE MURDERER.

This Court has consistently rejected residual or lingering doubt as a non-statutory mitigating factor. King v. State, 514 So.2d 354, 358 (Fla. 1987); Tafero v. Dugger, 520 So.2d 287, 289, n 1 (Fla. 1988); White v. Dugger, 523 So.2d 140 (Fla. 1988); Mitchell v. State, 527 So.2d 179, 182 (Fla. 1988); Chandler v. State, 534 So.2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1988)(a resentencing is not a retrial of the defendant's guilt or innocence); Downs v. State, 572 So.2d 895, 900 (Fla. 1990); Hitchcock v. State, 578 So.2d 685, 690 (Fla. 1990); Waterhouse v. State, 596 So.2d 1008, 1011 (Fla. 1992); Preston v. State, 607 So.2d 404, 411 (Fla. 1992); Bogle v. State, 655 So.2d 1103, 1107 (Fla. 1995); Sims v. State, 681 So.2d 1112, 1117 (Fla. 1996). Appellant now asks this Court to ignore that precedent to urge that Neil Thomas rather than Merck killed Jim Newton, in the guise of mitigation.9

Pappellee also submits the claim is procedurally barred. In his sentencing memorandum below, appellant did <u>not</u> argue the mitigator of "Neil Thomas as murderer" (Vol. IV, R. 707-730). He observed there "Although Merck still categorically maintains his innocence, he and his counsel recognize that, based upon the original jury's conviction of first degree murder, this memorandum must be written from the perspective that Troy Merck was the individual who committed the stabbing. Nevertheless, Merck does so without waiving any objection or position relating to his limited role in the homicide" (Vol. IV, R. 707-708).

While it is true that the Court has held that the trial judge has discretion in a resentencing proceeding to allow the jury to hear evidence that will aid it in understanding the facts of the case to render an appropriate advisory sentence -- see Teffeteller <u>v. State</u>, 495 So.2d 744 (Fla. 1986); <u>Bonifay v. State</u>, 680 So.2d 413, 419 (Fla. 1996) -- obviously the trial court does not abuse its discretion by refusing to turn a penalty phase proceeding into a quilt phase proceeding (and exceeding the mandate of this Court) or by permitting evidence to confuse or mislead the jury, in the performance of its responsibility of returning a sentencing recommendation, or by subverting a long line of precedents of this Court that residual or lingering doubt is not a non-statutory mitigating factor. Furthermore, consideration of the proffer below and the totality of the evidence yields the conclusion that Merck (rather than Thomas) was the killer and that Neil Thomas' presence in the parking lot did not suffice either for a jury instruction or a finding that Merck was an accomplice in a capital felony committed by another person and his participation was relatively minor or that he acted under the substantial domination of another, or that an equally culpable co-perpetrator received disparate treatment.

As below, appellant relies on <u>Downs v. State</u>, 572 So.2d 895 (Fla. 1990) which held that it was harmless error to exclude a

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